IN THE SUPREME COURT	
2	IN AND FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA	
3	Electronically Filed	m
5	Oct 29 2019 07:02 p.Tsun Young)Clerk of Supreme Control	
6	Clerk of Supreme Co	urt
7	Appellant/Petitioner, ) Supreme Court Case No. 78916	
8	vs.	
9	) Hard Rock Hotel and Casino )	
10	and State of Nevada, <u>ex rel</u>	
11	Nevada Gaming Control Board )	
12	Appellees/Respondents.	
13	)	
14	On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court	
15	Clark County, Nevada	
16	APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON APPEAL	
17		
18		
19	Nersesian & Sankiewicz	
20	Robert A. Nersesian Nevada Bar No. 002762	
21	Thea Marie Sankiewicz Nevada Ba No. 002788	
22	528 S. 8 <sup>th</sup> St.	
23	Las Vegas, NV 89101 Telephone: 702-385-5454

# IV. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant appeals the district court's denial of Plaintiff's Petition for Judicial Review of a determination of the hearing examiner for the Nevada Gaming Control Board which disposed of the entire action. Jurisdiction with this Court is found at NRS 463.3668(1).

# **V. ROUTING STATEMENT**

The present matter is at the edge of NRAP 17(a). Appellant contends 12 13 that this matter should be retained by the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(12) 14 as it involves as it raises and involves matters raising as a principal issue a 15 question of statewide public importance. At issue is the construction of 16 17 Nevada Gaming Control Board Regulation ("NGCBR") 12.060. The issues here 18 are raised as a matter of first impression in this Court, As gaming and 19 tourism are the States principle industries, and the regulations address the 20 21 interaction between casinos and patrons regarding payment, there exists 2.2 incredible importance to the questions implicated in the current appeal, 23 including tourists' perceptions of Nevada versus other gaming destinations, 24 25 and the assurance that gaming licensees and the Board address patrons and 26 27 28

visitors fairly and not undertake a course of rubber-stamping positions
 offered up by gaming licensees against tourists regardless of how outrageous.

# VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

5 The structure of the proceedings leading to the current Appeal began with 6 an admittedly erroneous decision for the casino on a patron dispute by a Board 7 enforcement agent under NRS 463.362(3). Should the patron disagree with the 8 9 agent's decision, as occurred here, on a proper petition the decision is 10 reconsidered in a separate hearing. NRS 463.363. In this case that review was 11 conducted by a "hearing examiner" in accord with NRS 463.110(4). The hearing 12 13 officer rendered a decision which was affirmed and adopted by the Board. 14 Decision, Appellant's App. ("Ap. App."), p., at p. 5. Appellant filed a Petition 15 for Judicial Review pursuant to NRS 463.3664. The District Court rendered its 16 17 determination affirming the Decision of the Board without change or 18 modification. Ap. App. . Thus, in context, it is the Decision of the hearing 19 examiner adopted by the Board at issue in this appeal. 20

Appellant presented \$30,000 in Hard Rock Hotel and Casino's ("Hard
 Rock") chips at its cage for redemption. Hard Rock refused to redeem the chips
 claiming that it could not verify Appellant's gaming activity supporting
 possession of \$35,000.00 in chips. The Nevada Gaming Control Board ("Board")
 through an enforcement officer responded to this refusal as a patron dispute. NRS

28

3

463.361, et seq. The enforcement officer investigated the dispute and upheld the position of Hard Rock that it did not have to redeem the chips.

The Appellant filed a Petition for Hearing with the Board pursuant to NRS 463.363. In accord with the rules for such a proceeding, the Board's hearing examiner conducted a hearing. During the hearing the enforcement officer, on examination, confirmed that he had erred in his determination and that Appellant was entitled to have the chips redeemed at the time of presentment. Nonetheless, the hearing examiner confirmed the decision of the enforcement officer over the retraction at the hearing, and upheld the position of Hard Rock that it did not have to redeem the chips.

Appellant brought a petition for judicial review in accord with NRS 463.3662. The district court affirmed the hearing examiner. Decision, JA pp. . This appeal followed.

#### VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

While NRS 463.3662 contains a standard of review for the district court on a petition for judicial review, NRS 463.3668 does not provide a standard of review for the appellate court reviewing the decision of the district court. In this sense, it appears that the standard of review is whether the district court erred in its decision under the standard of review applied by it.

The standard of review faced by the district court in its decision is that it 1 2 was required to show deference to the Board and while applying the questions 3 under NRS 463.3666(3)(a)-(e). That is, did the district court err in determining 4 5 that none of the following occurred in the decision of the Board: 6 (a) A violation of constitutional provisions; (b) The decision was in excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction 7 of the Board or the hearing examiner; 8 (c) The decision was made upon unlawful procedure; 9 (d) The decision was unsupported by any evidence; or (e) The decision was arbitrary or capricious or otherwise not in accordance 10 with law. 11 Also, material to this matter is also the fact that in its review of the Board decision 12 through the district court, "this court is free to examine purely legal questions 13 14 decided at the administrative level." Redmer v. Barbary Coast Hotel & Casino, 15 110 Nev. 374, 378, 872 P.2d 341, 344 (1994). 16 17 Finally, many of the issues here are purely legal (e.g., meaning of "patron" 18 in a regulation). This Court reviews questions of law in an administrative 19 determination de novo. State v. Ludwick, 440 P.3d 43, 45 (Nev. 2019)("In doing 20 21 so, we review **questions of law de novo** . . . . ")(emphasis added).<sup>1</sup> Thus, a mixed 22 23 24 <sup>1</sup> In order that the Court not perceive the citation as disingenuous, the balance of 25 the quoted sentence provides: "but "defer[] to [a hearing officer's] interpretation of 26 its governing statutes or regulations if the interpretation is within the language of the statute." (Emphasis added) This is not included above because this is a 27 28 5

standard of review applies to review of the present matter, with questions of law being subject to de novo review, and the balance being reviewed for arbitrary or capricious conclusions or clear error premised on a lack of any applicable evidence on factual review applied to the conclusions. 

# **VIII. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

8	1. Appellant, Tsun Young ("Young") was a rated player at Hard Rock with, at
9	least, \$335,000.00 in buy-ins at table games at Hard Rock. Decision, at p. 2,
10 11	JA p. , Findings of Fact, ¶ 1.
11	2. On October 24, 2016, Young presented \$30,000.00 in Hard Rock chips at

the Hard Rock casino for redemption. Hard Rock. Decision, Ap. App. p. at p. 2, Findings of Fact, ¶ 1.

3. Hard Rock refused redemption, and Appellant initiated a patron dispute.

Decision, Ap. App. p. at p. 1, ¶ 1.

4. Agent Naqui, an enforcement agent with the Board, responded to the patron dispute initiated by Young and undertook an investigation. See JA 007, ¶ 1.

case where the interpretation is not within the language of the statute, and only the *de novo* review language applies. 

5. As part of the investigation, Appellant provided a statement including a declaration to Agent Naqui noting in relevant part that the Appellant did not contend that he won the chips at a tournament. JA 376-378 and . 6. Per the affidavit provided to Agent Naqui, Young maintained that he was in possession of the chips through other gaming activity only tangentially related to the alleged tournament in that his expansive gaming on other Hard Rock games was to qualify for the tournament (over \$1,000,000 wagered on games offered by Hard Rock in order to qualify for the tournament). Young Declaration, ¶¶ 5-11, JA pp. 376-377. 7. Agent Naqui acknowledged that Young never told him that he won the chips in a blackjack tournament, and provided a statement in conflict with such a conclusion, yet, despite this, Agent Naqui based his report on the basis that Young could not substantiate his claim that he won the chips at a blackjack tournament. Naqui Testimony, JA 81: 18-20, and Agent Naqui Report at p. 2, "Complaint," ¶ 2, JA 373. Note also that in this Report in stating Hard Rock's position, Hard Rock did not maintain that Young claimed he won the chips in a blackjack tournament. Id. Note also that Agent Naqui recalled that he was even expressly told at the onset that the chips did not come from a blackjack tournament by Young's lawyer at the scene. Agent Naqui Testimony, JA 81 and 82.

1	8. Agent Naqui admits under oath that he was mistaken in the basis for his
2	Report in his assertion that Young claimed he won the chips in a
3	tournament. Agent Naqui testimony, JA 82-83
5	9. Mr. Chad Conrad, Hard Rock's Vice President of Finance, acknowledged
6	
7	under oath that Young was a "patron" at the Hard Rock as well. 281: 20-
8	22.
9	10. Agent Naqui admitted that Young was a "patron" at Hard Rock. Agent
10	Naqui testimony, JA 87: 5-13. Agent Naqui Report, JA 374 at ¶ 3 ("Based
11	on my investigation, I found that Young was a patron at the Hard Rock
12 13	
13	"). <sup>2</sup>
14	11. Further, despite his report, on examination, Agent Naqui, the Board's
16	enforcement agent, acknowledge that there is no correlation between how
17	much is played and how much is held in chips. Agent Naqui testimony, JA
18	84-85: 21-3.
19	12.Hard Rock's own records show gambling buy-ins by Young of \$731,699.50
20	12.11ard Rock's own records show gamoning ouy-ins by 1 oung of \$751,077.50
21	over the relevant period. Of this, \$362,800 were at table games, and
22	presumably, therefore, with chips. JA 347-348. These same records show
23	
24	
25	<sup>2</sup> Note that under the language of NGCBR 12.060(2)(c), as discussed below,
26 27	mandated a conclusion in Agent Naqui's report that Young's chips be "promptly redeem(ed)."
27	
20	
	8

an overall win at the table games demonstrating possession of, at least, \$362,800 in Hard Rock chips placed at risk throughout the gaming. 13.Nonetheless, in his investigation and determination, Agent Naqui evaluated the Appellant's contentions as if he were claiming that he won the chips at a tournament. In fact, Agent Naqui expressly stated in his investigation that the statement by Young claimed that "Young that he acquired the chips during that specific blackjack tournament." Agent Naqui Report at p. 2, "Complaint," ¶ 2, JA 373. This was in error, and Young's statement provided the exact opposite of that which Agent Naqui asserted that upon which Young's claim was based. Compare Young Declaration, ¶¶ 5-11, JA 377-378.<sup>3</sup>

14.In the hearing before the hearing examiner, Agent Naqui confirmed that the Appellant was a "patron" of Hard Rock, admitted that he did not investigate the dispute actually at issue, and acknowledged that the Appellant's level of play substantiated Appellant being in possession of \$30,000 in Hard Rock chips. That is, the very basis for his decision allowing Hard Rock to not redeem the chips was admitted by Agent Naqui to be in error, and at the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This Statement by Young included little other than this declaration attached as an exhibit/explanation. It was attached to the statement at JA 376.

time of the presentment of the chips, Hard Rock had not shown the prerequisites to denying redemption under NGCBR 12.060.

15. Agent Naqui also confirmed that from the information provided to him at the time of his investigation, the evidence indicated that Young could well have held the \$30,000 in chips from play at the Hard Rock, and essentially, the only reason he denied payment was because he was mistaken in believing that Young had represented that the chips were part of a large win. Agent Naqui testimony, JA 91-92 at 92: 11-13 ("[Young] would have possibly \$30,000 in his possession.").

16.Also, in support of its claim, Hard Rock personnel forwarded to Agent
Naqui or the hearing examiner, a false list of the participants in the
tournament to support the conclusion that Young was not in the tournament.
It purported to be the list of participants, but did not include Mr. Paul
Engstrom, the actual winner of the tournament at issue. That is, the list
provided by Hard Rock to support claiming Mr. Young was prevaricating
was demonstrably unreliable and even untrue. *See* Discussion at Transcript,
JA 113-121.

17.Prior to this decision, Young took the deposition *duces tecum* of Hard Rock which also requested all documentation regarding the Appellant's play at Hard Rock. *Accord* Conrad questioning and testimony, JA 263-265. 18. At the hearing the Young presented the documentation upon which the hearing examiner relied although it had not been provided at the deposition. That is, the hearing examiner relied upon evidence which had been withheld from Young in discovery. *Id.* 

19.Hard Rock's witness admitted that he could not have come to the conclusion that Young would not have been in possession of \$30,000 in chips based on the evidence presented at the time of the dispute, but needed the information provided only on the eve of the hearing and not provided at the *duces tecum* deposition of that witness. JA 263-265.

- 20. Young duly objected to this springing evidence contradicting the earlier produced evidence, but was overruled by the hearing examiner. JA 258-263.
- 21.The hearing examiner issued his decision, and the Board affirmed that Decision. JA 7-11.

22. The Decision turns largely on the determination that the Appellant did not prove on the Appellant "did not acquire the six \$5000.00 chips by game play at the Hard Rock." Decision, App. 7-11 at p. 3.

23.In the final review of the documents submitted by Hard Rock to Agent Naqui for his investigation, even Hard Rock's skewed records reference

1	that Young has \$20,000 in outstanding Hard Rock chips as of the time of
2	presentment. JA 419
3	IX. ARGUMENT
4	
5	The administrative state has the has the power to
6	enforce its laws, as it alone has interpreted them, liberated from any meaningful review by the courts
7	and often from any meaningful control by the
8	[executive] It can truly be said that in the main
9	the pursuits of everyday life, we are ruled by a one- branch government. And the 'experts' who run it are
10	accountable to no one."
11	CONFRONTING THE ADMINISTRATIVE STATE, Charles J. Cooper,
12	(National Affairs, Fall, 2019).
13	
14	A. INTRODUCTION
15	Appellant contends that the decision of the district court was in error as the
16 17	decision of the hearing examiner was 1) Unsupported by any evidence; 2)
17	Arbitrary and Capricious, and 3) Not in accordance with the law. Each basis is at
19	variance with the mandate found in NRS 463.3666(3)(d) and (e). As the Court
20	ravious the following two particular elements of the law apply to the facts and
21	reviews the following, two particular elements of the law apply to the facts and
22	decision to be made, and here the hearing examiner and the district court failed to
23	follow these mandates.
24	The first such law is found at Nevada Gaming Control Board Regulation
25	
26	("NGCBR") 12.060(2), providing in relevant part:
27	
28	
	12

1 2	"A licensee that uses chips or tokens at its gaming establishment shall: (c) Promptly redeem its own chips and tokens from its patrons by cash or check drawn on an
3	account of the licensee;"
4	The second provision appears at NGCBR 12.060(4), providing in relevant part:
5 6	"A licensee shall not redeem its chips or tokens if presented
7	by a person <u>who the licensee knows or reasonably should</u> <u>know is not a patron</u> of its gaming establishment"
8	Additionally, an overriding concern is also found at NGCBR 12.060(1),
9 10	providing in relevant part:
11	Chips and tokens are solely representatives of value which
12	evidence a debt owed to their custodian by the licensee that
13	issued them and are not the property of anyone other than that licensee.
14	In the present matter, despite the fact that the enforcement agent and Hard Rock
15 16	confirmed that the Appellant was a patron, and Plaintiff contended he was a
17	patron, the hearing examiner determined, and the district court adopted, the
18	conclusion that the Appellant was not a patron of Hard Rock. It is contended that
19 20	this is not in accordance with the law under NRS 364.3666(3)(e).
21	<b>Β Α ΒΡΕΙ Ι ΑΝΤ WAG Α ΒΑΤΡΟΝ ΟΕ ΠΑΡΡ ΡΟΟ</b> Υ
22	<b>B. APPELLANT WAS A PATRON OF HARD ROCK</b>
22	The Board in adopting the hearing examiner's decision found that the
24	Appellant failed to carry his burden of proof to establish he was a "patron" of
25	Hard Rock. Board Decision, pp. 3-4. This puts the legal definition of "patron" in
26	the context of the foregoing regulations directly at issue in this matter and further
27	the context of the foregoing regulations directly at issue in this matter, and further,
28	

this legal determination is an issue of first impression in this Court. In this sense,
under the authority of NRS 463.3666(3)(e), *State v. Ludwick*, 440 P.3d 43, 45
(Nev. 2019) and *Redmer v. Barbary Coast Hotel & Casino*, 110 Nev. 374, 378,
872 P.2d 341, 344 (1994), should the Court agree that the Appellant was a
"patron" of Hard Rock, a decision reversing the district court and correlatively the
Board, is warranted.

The definition of "patron" adopted by the Board is as follows: A person is a 9 10 "patron:" "[I]f he could prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the chips 11 he had in his possession were acquired by game play at [the casino.] . . . [I]f the 12 chips cannot be verified, he would not have been considered a patron as the term 13 14 is used in Regulation 12.060(4)." Board Decision at p.3, second full paragraph, JA 15 p. . As shown below, this definition has no support under any law, is internally 16 17 self-contradictory, and completely eradicates the express burden on the casino 18 found in the applicable regulation. That is, this definition is legally erroneous for 19 multiple reasons. 20

It is axiomatic and universal that in the construction of a statute or
 regulation, when the language "is clear and unambiguous," there is no
 construction to be undertaken, and the tribunal is to give "effect to the plain and
 ordinary meaning of the words . . .." *Davis v. Beling*, 128 Nev. 301, 311, 278
 P.3d 501, 508-509 (2012)(emphasis added). Moreover, this rule is so sacrosanct

that even if the tribunal believes that the plain language of a law is at odds with 1 2 the legislative scheme surrounding that law, the tribunal remains constrained to 3 apply the plain language over the perceived intent. Pope v. Motel 6, 121 Nev. 307, 4 314, 114 P.3d 277, 282 (2005). Thus, when the regulation contains the common 5 6 word "patron," it is to be given its ordinary and plain meaning, and tribunals are 7 restrained from embarking on a search of non-existing ambiguities or hidden 8 meanings beyond the face of the word. 9

10 In addition to that stated above, the Board Decision also allegedly clarifies 11 that a "patron" as "a customer of a gaming establishment that obtained the chips 12 "through a game, tournament, contest, drawing, promotion or similar activity."" 13 14 Board Decision, p. 3, Was Young a "patron" at Hard Rock?, ¶ 1, JA. 15 Contrarywise, the rest of the world defines patron as "[A] person who is a 16 17 customer, client, or paying guest, esp. a regular one, of a store, hotel, or the like." 18 Webster's College Dictionary (Random House 1990), and see Black's Law 19 Dictionary, Fifth Ed., (West 1979)("A regular customer."); Oxford Living 20 21 Dictionaries ("A customer of a shop, restaurant, etc., especially a regular one."); 22 Miriam Webster ("[O]ne who buys the goods or uses the services offered 23 especially by an establishment."). Clearly, through respected lexicography four 24 25 deep, including the premier legal dictionary, "patron" has a plain and ordinary 26 meaning. 27

Concerning the dictionary definitions above, the same is true in the limited 1 2 case law applicable to the term. See Peoria v. Henderson, 39 Ill. App. 3d 762, 3 765, 350 N.E.2d 540, 542 (1976)(One who has made wagers at a gambling house 4 is a patron of the gambling house); Acker v. S.W. Cantinas, Inc., 586 A.2d 1178, 5 6 1181 (Del. 1991)(A "patron" is one who conveys an economic benefit through 7 purchase on the business of another.); Lehman Bros. v. Certified Reporting Co., 8 939 F. Supp. 1333, 1340 (1996)(Analogizing a "patron" to a customer); Kottaras 9 10 v. Whole Foods Mkt., Inc., 281 F.R.D. 16, 17 (D. D.C. 2012)(same). Clearly there 11 exists a plain and ordinary meaning to patron. As a rated player with over 12 \$335,000 in confirmed wagers placed at table games at Hard Rock and over a 13 14 million dollars placed at risk at the Hard Rock, Petitioner squarely fits and falls 15 within that meaning. The Board, in excluding Petitioner from the class of persons 16 17 referenced (patrons) clearly erred in the law through turning their decision on their 18 flawed construction of the word.

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