Case No. 78916

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TSUN YOUNG,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Dec 16 2019 02:43 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

NEVADA GAMING CONTROL BOARD; AND HARD ROCK HOTEL AND CASINO,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT LVHR CASINO, LLC'S1 ANSWERING BRIEF

Marla J. Hudgens, Nevada Bar No. 11098 LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP 201 East Washington Street, Suite 1200 Phoenix, Arizona 85004 Tel.: 602.262.5311

Fax: 602.262.5747 MHudgens@lrrc.com

Counsel for Respondent Hard Rock Hotel and Casino

¹ LVHR Casino, LLC is the formal entity that owns the Hard Rock Hotel and Casino.

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Is a gaming licensee required to redeem any amount of chips presented by a customer without the legal right to verify the customer's play or otherwise dispute the payout pursuant to NRS 463.362?
- 2. Given the extensive documents and testimony in the record, is there "any" evidence to support the Board's final decision?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an administrative appeal arising from a final administrative decision of the Board made after an evidentiary hearing

(the "Decision"). (1 JA 11.) The Board's Decision was subsequently affirmed by the district court. (4 JA 638-39.)

The Decision involves a patron dispute brought by Young under NRS 463.362 after the Hard Rock declined to redeem six casino chips each worth \$5,000, for a total of \$30,000. (*Id.*; see also 4 JA 372-75, 377-79.) The Board's investigative unit, a Board hearing examiner, and ultimately the Board itself all upheld the Hard Rock's decision to decline redemption. (4 JA 370; 1 JA 7-11.)

Following exhaustion of these administrative remedies, Young petitioned the eighth district court of Nevada for judicial review on May 23, 2018. (1 JA 1-3). The district court again affirmed the Board's Decision and Hard Rock's decision to decline redemption. (*Id.*) On April 29, 2019, the district court entered an order affirming the Board's Decision and denying Young's petition for judicial review. (4 JA 638-39.) Young appealed to this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Young and his Play at the Hard Rock

Young is unemployed and apparently earns a living off of various investments. (2 JA 189-90.) Young was a rated player at Hard Rock and

first gambled at the casino in Las Vegas in 2008. (3 JA 382-83.) From 2008 through 2011, Young gambled during sporadic weekends—Hard Rock has records showing that he gambled a totally of 23 days during the four-year period. (*Id.*) When he did gamble, however, Young played both slot machines and table games. (*Id.*)

Young's "buy-ins" (the amount of money he paid to gamble) were tracked for both slot machine and table games. (*Id.*) Hard Rock's tracking system is sophisticated and allows the casino to determine a number of factors including (a) the nature of the buy in (cash, credit, replaying chips, etc.), (b) the length of play at any given table or machine, (c) whether the player won or loss during that playing session, and (d) the value of the win or lost. (*See, e.g., id.* at 429-463.) This tracking system also allows the Hard Rock to determine whether a player seeking to redeem casino chips is in lawful possession of those chips. (*Id.*)

B. Young's Attempt to Redeem \$44,000 in Casino Chips in 2011

In January 2011, Young attempted to redeem \$44,000 in casino chips from the Hard Rock—six chips valuing \$5,000 each (\$30,000) and 14 chips valuing \$1,000 each (\$14,000). (3 JA 384-85, 403.) The Hard

Rock refused to redeem the chips because it could not verify Young's play in the amount he sought to redeem. (*Id.*) Concerns about Young were noted in his records, including an entry dated January 22, 2011, stating: "DO NOT CASH OUT ANY CHIPS WITHOUT VERIFICATION! DO NOT EXCHANGE ANY CHIP ON THE TABLE WITHOUT CONTACTING A MANAGER AND SURVEILLANCE." (*Id.*) Likewise, a note on March 25, 2011 states:

Guest has been banned from playing until we can find out where he is getting HRH gaming chips from! He currently has approx.. \$30k-\$40k in HRH house chips! Gaming has been notified and has begun an investigation. Please do not allow this guest to play, contact security, surveillance and a manager if he lands!

(*Id.* at 403.)

C. Young's Attempt to Redeem \$30,000 in Casino Chips in 2016

From 2011 and until 2016, Young did not gamble at the Hard Rock. But on October 24, 2016, Young attempted again to redeem chips, this time only \$30,000—6 chips worth \$5,000 each—not \$44,000. Due to the high dollar amount of chips to be redeemed, the casino shift manager was called to verify the transaction. (3 JA 380.) The shift manager ultimately denied Young's transaction because Young's casino play was not commensurate with the amount of chips to be redeemed,

and Young's player's account noted Petitioner was a banned patron. (*Id.*)

This time, however, Young brought an attorney with him to the Hard Rock and had a statement prepared in advance of any rejection by the Hard Rock. (3 JA 377-79.) In his statement, Young alleged the \$30,000 in casino chips were acquired in connection with a blackjack tournament in August 2008, among other play. (*Id.*)

In light of Hard Rock's decision to deny redemption, Young requested assistance of the Board. Board Agent Dan Nuqui investigated the matter. (*Id.* at 372-75.) As part of his investigation, Agent Nuqui obtained the surveillance report, reviewed Young's rated player information, and reviewed records from the tournament. (*Id.*) After his investigation, Agent Nuqui determined Petitioner was not entitled to redeem the disputed amount in large part because his player records did not substantiate a \$30,000 payout. (*Id.* at 320.)

On November 23, 2016, the Board informed Young that, pursuant to its investigation, Hard Rock was not obligated to award the \$30,000 in dispute. Young filed a request for reconsideration. (*Id.* 316-18.)

D. Evidentiary Hearing Before a Hearing Examiner

An evidentiary hearing on Young's Petition for Reconsideration took place on October 24, 2017, and January 22, 2018. During the evidentiary hearing, Hard Rock walked through several spreadsheet that included all information related to Young's play. (3 JA 382-463.) The spreadsheets showed the total amount of play, the "Buy In Detail" to show the type of buy-in for Young's play (e.g., cash, chips, credit, etc.), and "Chip Transactions," which represents a summary of the data to demonstrate the amount of chips Young could have in his possession based on his play. (*Id.*)

According to the data, Young could have *no more than* \$20,000 in chips in his possession. (*Id.*; *see also id.* at 238-39) This amount does not include or account for chips that Young would likely have used for dealer tips, server tips, or non-logged chip redemptions. (*Id.*) In other words, it was unlikely that Young could even have \$20,000 in chips.

During the hearing, Young attempted to defend why Hard Rock's records would show only \$20,000 in chips even though he's sought to redeem as much as \$44,000. (*Id.* at 216-17.) When asked whether Hard Rock "could have possibly tracked all your winnings and losses," Young

answered "no," explaining that, "[a]ny time I had the chance, I would stick chips in my pocket. My goal was to make them think I lost money to invite me back, plus better comps. Hoping to get better comps." (Id. at 216 (emphasis added).) In other words, Young testified that he purposefully hid chips from Hard Rock to garner better benefits for himself. (Id. at 216-17.)

According to Hard Rock's Chief Financial Officer, however, even if Young hid some chips while he played, it is still not possible for him to have six, \$5,000 chips. (*Id.* at 302.) Chips in such high denominations would not escape the Hard Rock's pit bosses and security team, who would know if those chips were being systematically hidden. (*Id.*) They are recorded when handed to the player. And, if Young received the chips because he "colored up" (traded in smaller denominations for larger ones) doing so would have then been recorded in Young's player records. (*Id.*) Thus, Young's theory that he had possession of the chips because he had concealed them from Hard Rock is a logistical impossibilty.

Also suspicious was Young's inability to explain why in 2011, he sought to redeem \$44,000 in chips, whereas in 2016, he sought only to

redeem \$30,000 in chips. At the hearing, he testified (untruthfully) that \$30,000 in chips were six, \$5,000 chips and the remaining \$14,000 was comprised of smaller denominations (\$1 or \$5 etc.) that he did not keep track of. (*Id.* at 244-45.) Surveillance reports, however, clearly showed that of the \$44,000 in chips he sought to redeem in 2011, \$14,000 worth were in \$1000 denominations. (*Id.* at 245.) Young has no explanation where those chips are.

E. The Board's Decision

Following the evidentiary hearing, the hearing examiner recommended to the Board that it affirm Hard Rock's decision not to pay out the \$30,000 in chips. (1 JA 7-11.) The Board unanimously accepted the recommendation. (*Id.*)

F. The District Court Affirms the Board's Decision

On May 23, 2018, Young filed a petition for judicial review asking the district court to reverse the Board's Decision. The district court heard oral argument from the parties and ultimately denied the petition for judicial review and affirmed the Board's Decision. (4 JA 638-39.) Young timely appealed to this Court.

ARGUMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 28(i), the Hard Rock adopts the arguments made by the Board in its Answering Brief. As outlined therein, the Board reasonably and appropriately interpreted Nevada law and its regulations to allow the Hard Rock to dispute Young's chip redemption.

Furthermore, the Board's Decision should be upheld under NRS 463.3666(3) because any other result would ignore the very statute that triggered this case in the first place—NRS 463.362, governing patron disputes— and protects both licensees and those who gamble at their facilities. A contrary interpretation would open the door to possible financial crimes and abuse. Accordingly, there is no justifiable basis to overturn the Board's Decision. This Court should affirm it.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Young bears the burden of proof in this case. *See* NRS 463.3666(3). Under NRS 463.3666(3), he must show that the Decision of the Board is (a) In violation of constitutional provisions; (b) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the Board or the hearing examiner; (c) Made upon un-lawful procedure; (d) Unsupported by any evidence;

or (e) Arbitrary or capricious or otherwise not in accordance with law.

Id.

Young argues that the Board's Decision is arbitrary or capricious or contrary to law, NRS 463.3663(e), and it is not supported by any evidence, NRS 463.3663(d). (AOB at 12.) Young has not and cannot meet this burden. The Board's reading and application of the law is correct, and the Decision is supported by the evidence. The Decision should be upheld.

1. The Board's Decision is Not Contrary to Law

Young contends that this case turns on the interpretation of Board regulations, specifically, the definition of "patron." Young's believes that his only obligation as a rated player is to present casino chips to the cage. Once presented, he claims that Hard Rock *must* redeem them under Board regulations because he is a "patron", and Hard Rock has no right to dispute the redemption. (AOB at 12-13.) He is wrong.

A gaming licensee such as Hard Rock is specifically permitted to dispute cash payouts under NRS 463.362. Young's position would nullify that statute and render it superfluous. Moreover, Young's position would make it impossible for gaming licensees to comply with

the entirety of their obligations to comply with state and federal laws and policies, particularly those designed to combat financial crime.

a. Patron Disputes are Authorized under Statute

Young's argument is premised upon his belief that a gaming licenesee is never permitted to dispute a patron payout and *must* redeem chips presented by a patron. This is not true.

NRS 463.362 entitled "Resolution of disputes" provides, in pertinent part:

- 1. Whenever a patron and a licensee . . . have any dispute which cannot be resolved to the satisfaction of the patron and which involves:
- (a) Alleged winnings, alleged losses or the award or <u>distribution of cash</u>, prizes, benefits, tickets or any other item or items in a game, tournament, contest, drawing, promotion or similar activity or event;

. . .

the licensee is responsible for notifying the Board or patron in accordance with the provisions of subsection 2, regardless of whether the licensee is directly or indirectly involved in the dispute.

. . .

3. Upon being notified of a dispute, the Board, through an agent, shall conduct whatever investigation it deems necessary and shall determine whether payment should be made.

(Emphasis added.)

Young admits that this case began with a patron dispute brought under NRS 463.362. (AOB 3.) As outlined, the statute specifies a *process* for a gaming licensee to dispute a payout with a patron. The necessary criteria or steps include (1) the presence of unresolved dispute, (2) "whatever investigation" the Board deems necessary, and (3) a determination of whether payment should be made.

There is no dispute that he Board in this instance complied with NRS 463.362: a dispute arose between Hard Rock and Young, the Board investigated the dispute by reviewing Hard Rock's records, and the Board made a determination in favor of Hard Rock because its records shows Young redemption attempt was not commensurate with his play. This alone demonstrates the Board's compliance with Nevada law. Nevada law allows the Board to do "whatever investigation" it deems necessary under the circumstances. The statute does not say that a licensee may never dispute a patron payout; rather, the statute governs the process to be followed when such a dispute arises.

In other words, if there is a *process* for patron disputes to be resolved through an investigation, then a customer like Young is not

entitled to redeem casino chips as a matter of law simply because they are presented at the casino cage. Put simply, the Legislature enacted a statute related to patron disputes because it recognized that a person cannot simply present chips for redemption and demand the licensee redeem them without any right of verification.

Accordingly, the Board's Decision is not legally erroneous. A gaming licensee is absolutely entitled to challenge the distribution of cash in the form of a chip redemption, and the Board complied with NRS 436.362 to resolve Young's dispute.

b. Regulation 12 Applies in the Absence of a Patron Dispute

Young disregards NRS 463.362 and relies on Board regulations governing casino chips and tokens generally. Specifically, Young claims that the Hard Rock *must* redeem any chips he presents under Board Regulation 12.060(2) and (4). (AOB 12-17.)

Regulation 12.060(2) directs a gaming licensee to "[p]romptly redeem its own chips and tokens from its patrons by cash or check drawn on an account of the licensee," and Regulation 12.0604 forbids a licensee from redeeming a chips if they are presented by a person "who the licensee knows or reasonably should know is not a patron of its

gaming establishment. Young claims that he was a "patron" because he was a customer of the Hard Rock, and that because he was a customer, Hard Rock has no right to verify his play under Board Regulations.

But Regulation 12 is only intended to cover scenarios where there is no dispute over a patron's possession or authority to have casino chips or tokens. In the absence of any dispute, a licensee must immediately redeem chips presented—it cannot, for example, delay such redemption.

Where there <u>is</u> a dispute, however, NRS 463.362 and *its* accompanying regulations (Gaming Regulation 7) apply. That statute, as explained above, outlines the process to be followed, including that a licensee must notify the Board of any dispute and the Board must conduct "whatever investigation" it deems necessary. NRS 463.362.

c. Regulation 12 Cannot Nullify NRS 463.362

Young's interpretation of Regulation 12 conflicts with the spirit and intent of NRS 463.362 and would strip gaming licensees of a statutory right to dispute a cash payout in the rare occasions where doing so is necessary. *State, Div. of Ins. v. State Farm*, 116 Nev. 290, 293, 995 P.2d 482, 485 (2000) (holding that "a court will not hesitate to

declare a regulation invalid when the regulation . . . conflicts with existing statutory provisions"). Indeed, under Young's theory of this case, patron disputes could never occur; a licensee would be bound by law to redeem chips as a matter of course without any right to dispute the payout. But the Legislature intended the opposite.

As stated, NRS 463.362 specifically presents a resolution process for patron disputes. The Board cannot interpret its regulation in a way that creates a conflict with statute or the rights afforded to those contemplated under such statute. See, e.g., Jerry's Nugget v. Keith, 111 Nev. 49, 54, 888 P.2d 921, 924 (1995) (stating that "administrative regulations cannot contradict the statute they are designed to implement"). Under Young's theory, licensees lose also lose their statutory right to an investigation in the event of a dispute.

d. <u>Young's Position Conflicts with Other Licensee</u> Obligations

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